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Commission Agenda Item 

Meeting Date: 3/10/2025 

Subject: Preliminary 2024 Annual Report 

Cost:  N/A 

Attachments: Preliminary 2024 Financial Package  

From: Tsz Yan Brady, Director of Finance and Administration 

➢ Port Financial Overview (2020-2024) – Operating and Non-Operating

Revenue Trends: 

• 2020-2023: Port Revenues showed an upward trend.

• 2024: A decline in Revenues, primarily due to a 6% drop in Rental Property Revenue compared
to 2023.
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Revenues $9,557,916 $10,454,172 $11,534,628 $14,018,961 $13,794,840

Expenses $6,726,238 $6,494,067 $8,228,008 $8,749,948 $10,670,948

Net Income $2,831,678 $3,960,104 $3,306,621 $5,269,013 $3,123,892

Port of Edmonds
Revenues/Other Income and Operating Expenses/Other Expenses

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

*Net Income of $3,123,892 reconciles to the 2024 Annual Report – Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position on page 15. 
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Expense Trends: 

• 2020-2023: Consistent upward trend in Port Expenses, with a slight decline in 2021 compared to 
2020. 

• 2024: Significant rise in expenses due to: 

• Audit fees and strategic planning (not applicable in 2023) 

• Higher Employee Benefits and Payroll due to CPI adjustments + merit  

• Increased costs for Insurance and Professional Services (Lobbyists and Finance 
Consultant) 

• Repairs & Maintenance (Atrium Windows Building 3 & 4) 

• Marketing expenses due to Port Rebranding 

Net Income: 

• 2020-2023: Consistent upward trend in Port Net Income, with a slight decline in 2022 compared 
to 2021. 

• 2024: Despite lower Net Income in 2024, the Cash and Investments Position is higher than 2023. 
This is because expenses were allocated towards Phase 1 of the New Administration Building - 
the North Portwalk & Seawall Reconstruction Project in the Capital Plan. Approximately $7.0 
million out of $10.2 million of the New Administration Building was spent in 2023.  

 

 

 
 

➢ Port Net Income for the year ended December 31, 2024 

 
2024 YTD Actuals vs. 2024 YTD Budget 

• Marina Revenue is aligned with Budgeted Revenue with a variance of $5K lower than budgeted 
amount.  

• Rental Property Revenue is $237K lower than budget primarily due to lower occupancy rate in 
Harbor Square Complex. 
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• Total Operating Expenses are $280K lower than budget due to savings on preventive 
maintenance projects that were budgeted but did not execute.    

 

• Total Non-Operating Income is $651K higher than budget because the change in fair value of 
investments is an item that we do not budget for since it is driven by market conditions.  

 
2024 YTD Actuals vs. 2023 YTD Actuals 

• Marina Revenue is $73K higher than in 2023 primarily due to annual CPI + 1% (4.6 + 1% or 5.6%) 
increase in Permanent Moorage and Dry Storage rate. The increase was offset by Guest 
Moorage which decreased to a five-year low point for both the number of boats and nights 
spent, Travelift moves decreased from 2023 levels, and Fuel Sales decreased due to fewer 
gallons pumped when compared to 2023.  

• Rental Property Revenue is $179K lower than in 2023 primarily due to lower occupancy rate in 
Harbor Square Complex. 

• Total Operating Expenses are $1.6 million higher than in 2023 primarily due to audit fees and 
strategic plan (not applicable in 2023), higher Employee Benefits and Payroll, Insurance, 
Professional Services (Lobbyists and Finance Consultant), Repairs & Maintenance (Atrium 
Windows Building 3 & 4), and Marketing due to Port Rebranding.  

• Total Non-Operating Income is $87K lower than in 2023 primarily due to an operating grant of 
$250K received from a Snohomish County program funded by the Snohomish County ARPA 
Coronavirus Local Fiscal Relief Funds (CLFR) in 2023. We did not receive any similar grants in 
2024. 

 
➢ Marina Financial Overview (2020-2024) – Operating and Non-Operating 
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Revenues $6,506,934 $7,480,016 $8,413,555 $8,911,262 $8,996,038

Expenses $4,447,821 $4,827,599 $6,229,957 $5,514,614 $6,663,852

Net Income $2,059,112 $2,652,417 $2,183,598 $3,396,648 $2,332,186

Marina
Revenues/Other Income and Operating Expenses/Other Expenses

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Revenues Expenses Net Income
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➢ Marina Operating Income Statement for the year ended December 31, 2024 

 

 
2024 YTD Actuals vs. 2024 YTD Budget 

• Marina Revenue is aligned with Budgeted Revenue with a variance of $5K lower than budgeted 
amount.  

• Total Operating Expenses are $392K lower than budget due to savings in preventive 
maintenance projects that were budgeted but did not execute.    

 
2024 YTD Actuals vs. 2023 YTD Actuals 

• Marina Revenue is $73K higher than in 2023 primarily due to annual CPI + 1% (4.6 + 1% or 5.6%) 
increase in Permanent Moorage and Dry Storage rate. The increase was offset by Guest 
Moorage which decreased to a five-year low point for both the number of boats and nights 
spent, Travelift moves decreased from 2023 levels, and Fuel Sales decreased due to fewer 
gallons pumped when compared to 2023.  

• Total Operating Expenses are $460K higher than in 2023 primarily due to higher Employee 
Benefits and Payroll, Insurance, Professional Services (Lobbyists), Repairs & Maintenance 
(increase in contractor costs). 
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➢ Rental Property Financial Overview (2020-2024) – Operating and Non-Operating 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

➢ Rental Operating Income Statement for the year ended December 31, 2024 

 
 

2024 YTD Actuals vs. 2024 YTD Budget 

• Rental Property Revenue is $237K lower than budget primarily due to lower occupancy rate in 
Harbor Square Complex.  

• Total Operating Expenses are $159K lower than budget mainly due to savings in the Atrium 
Windows Building 3 & 4 project (budgeted for $400K and final cost was $332K).  
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Revenues $2,074,964 $2,633,538 $2,847,053 $3,079,668 $2,900,710

Expenses $1,301,379 $1,322,329 $1,724,030 $1,207,303 $2,109,004

Net Income $773,585 $1,311,209 $1,123,023 $1,872,365 $791,706

Rental Property
Revenues/Other Income and Operating Expenses/Other Expenses

For the Year Ended December 31, 2024

Revenues Expenses Net Income
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2024 YTD Actuals vs. 2023 YTD Actuals 

• Rental Property Revenue is $179K lower than in 2023 primarily due to lower occupancy rate in 
Harbor Square Complex. The occupancy rate is 83.71% in 2024 when compared to 91.52% in 
2023.  

• Total Operating Expenses are $486K higher than in 2023 primarily due to the Repairs & 
Maintenance project for the Atrium Windows in Buildings 3 and 4, which cost $332K. 
Additionally, the Port contributed $26K and $19K to turnover suites for new tenants in Buildings 
2 and 3, respectively. 

Note: In 2023, the project plan design for Atrium Windows was completed for Buildings 
1, 3 and 4. Building 3 and part of Building 4 were completed in 2024. Building 1 is 
scheduled for completion in 2025, and the remaining part of Building 4 is expected to be 
completed in 2026.
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➢ The following tables show the Company’s cash, cash equivalents and investments as of December 31, 2024: 
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➢ Investment Summary  

 
As of December 31, 2024, the Port has 16 long-term investments. Investments consist of U.S. Government Securities and participation in the 
State of Washington Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP). As of December 31, 2024, the Port’s cash and investment portfolio totaled $28.2 
million at book value. Approximately fifty-three percent (53.1%) of the invested cash is invested in U.S. Government Securities. The remainder is 
invested in short-term savings and the State’s LGIP.  
 
As noted below, there was a $1.0 million bond maturity during the three months ended December 31, 2024 and the Port purchased another 
$1.0 million US Treasury Note with a coupon rate of 4.00% and yield rate of 3.950%. There will two other maturities in Q1 2025 and we will be 
evaluating if we should reinvest in U.S. Government Securities or State’s LGIP. The State’s LGIP is highly liquid and the net earnings rate was 
4.6019% as of December 31, 2024. 
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Income Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2023 YTD 2024 YTD 2024 YTD

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET $ % $ %
MARINA REVENUES

ELECTRICAL FEES 144,943          146,918          145,000          1,918               1% 1,975               1%

ENVIRONMENTAL FEES 132,923          132,885          133,000          (115)                 0% (39)                   0%

ENVIRONMENTAL FEE - WORKYARD 34,771             30,297             33,000             (2,703)              -8% (4,474)              -13%

FUEL SALES 2,015,888       1,768,042       1,983,000       (214,958)         -11% (247,845)         -12%

LAUNCHER 138,761          138,131          117,000          21,131             18% (630)                 0%

MISCELLANEOUS 130,415          116,447          127,000          (10,553)           -8% (13,968)           -11%

GUEST MOORAGE 257,462          238,701          246,000          (7,299)              -3% (18,761)           -7%

PERMANENT MOORAGE 4,646,117       4,857,343       4,761,000       96,343             2% 211,226          5%

PASSENGER FEES 64,193             83,391             66,000             17,391             26% 19,198             30%

DRY STORAGE 931,446          998,685          963,000          35,685             4% 67,239             7%

PARKING 173,030          190,245          180,000          10,245             6% 17,215             10%

TRAVELIFT 170,457          159,222          149,000          10,222             7% (11,235)           -7%

WORKYARD 144,117          176,720          144,000          32,720             23% 32,603             23%

LATE FEES 37,090             36,793             32,000             4,793               15% (297)                 -1%

TOTAL MARINA REVENUE (INCLUDING OVERHEAD REVENUE) 9,021,613       9,073,818       9,079,000       (5,182)              0% 52,206             1%

RENTAL PROPERTY REVENUES

HARBOR SQUARE LEASE REVENUE 1,854,947       1,692,218       1,977,000       (284,782)         -14% (162,729)         -9%

HARBOR SQUARE CAMS 309,449          277,880          339,000          (61,120)           -18% (31,569)           -10%

WEST SIDE LEASE REVENUE 351,657          373,928          351,000          22,928             7% 22,272             6%

HARBOR SQUARE LEASE INTEREST REVENUE 357,749          367,580          281,000          86,580             31% 9,831               3%

WEST SIDE LEASE INTEREST REVENUE 195,091          181,914          182,000          (86)                   0% (13,177)           -7%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 7,087               5,826               5,000               826                  17% (1,261)              -18%

LATE FEES 3,498               1,364               3,000               (1,636)              -55% (2,133)              -61%

TOTAL RENTAL PROPERTY REVENUE 3,079,477       2,900,710       3,138,000       (237,290)         -8% (178,767)         -6%

COST OF GOODS SOLD

COST OF SALES 123,890          134,945          139,000          (4,055)              -3% 11,055             9%

ELECTRICAL PURCHASES 66,239             69,348             72,000             (2,652)              -4% 3,108               5%

FUEL & OIL 1,636,471       1,415,588       1,625,000       (209,412)         -13% (220,883)         -13%

LOAN-A-SLIP CREDITS 24,669             19,717             23,000             (3,283)              -14% (4,952)              -20%

TOTAL COST OF GOODS SOLD 1,851,270       1,639,599       1,859,000       (219,401)         -12% (211,671)         -11%

GROSS PROFIT 10,249,820     10,334,929     10,358,000     (23,071)           0% 85,110             1%

OPERATING EXPENSES

ADVERTISING & NOTICES 7,234               6,177               10,000             (3,823)              -38% (1,057)              -15%

AUDIT -                        38,478             38,000             478                  1% 38,478             100%

AUTOMOBILE AND EQUIPMENT FUEL 25,455             23,726             27,000             (3,274)              -12% (1,729)              -7%

BANK CHARGES 9,203               10,992             9,000               1,992               22% 1,789               19%

BUSINESS TAXES 37,661             30,715             33,000             (2,285)              -7% (6,946)              -18%

CLAIMS & DAMAGES 1,702               19,412             14,000             5,412               39% 17,710             1041%

COMMUNICATIONS 15,420             19,786             20,000             (214)                 -1% 4,367               28%

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT & TOURISM 12,059             36,346             14,000             22,346             160% 24,286             201%

EDUCATION 27,733             37,404             46,000             (8,596)              -19% 9,670               35%

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 826,578          932,774          930,000          2,773               0% 106,196          13%

HAZARDOUS WASTE DISPOSAL 13,075             15,709             16,000             (291)                 -2% 2,634               20%

INSURANCE 371,250          436,605          455,000          (18,395)           -4% 65,355             18%

LEASE EXPENSES -                        -                        33,000             (33,000)           -100% -                        0%

LICENSES & PERMITS 3,371               3,833               3,000               833                  28% 462                  14%

MARKETING 2,816               103,634          8,000               95,634             1195% 100,818          3580%

MASTER BUSINESS PLAN -                        -                        -                        -                        0% -                        0%

MEALS 2,717               5,888               4,000               1,888               47% 3,170               117%

MEMBERSHIP DUES 21,607             32,088             32,000             88                     0% 10,481             49%

MISCELLANEOUS -                        -                        -                        -                        0% -                        0%

OFFICE 151,392          179,327          149,000          30,327             20% 27,935             18%

PAYROLL TAXES 318,942          322,319          370,000          (47,681)           -13% 3,377               1%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 230,110          534,091          343,000          191,091          56% 303,980          132%

PROMOTIONAL HOSTING 231                  353                  3,000               (2,647)              -88% 122                  53%

RENT 15,600             13,383             16,000             (2,617)              -16% (2,217)              -14%

REPAIR & MAINTENANCE 336,890          894,354          1,109,000       (214,646)         -19% 557,464          165%

SALARIES & WAGES 2,831,530       3,022,910       3,105,000       (82,090)           -3% 191,380          7%

STRATEGIC PLAN -                        36,976             45,000             (8,024)              -18% 36,976             100%

SUPPLIES 287,440          290,441          435,000          (144,559)         -33% 3,001               1%

TENANT IMPROVEMENTS -                        -                        -                        -                        0% -                        0%

TRAVEL 26,974             43,291             72,000             (28,709)           -40% 16,317             60%

UNIFORMS 3,726               28,279             16,000             12,279             77% 24,554             659%

UTILITIES 482,312          527,248          572,000          (44,752)           -8% 44,936             9%

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 6,063,028       7,646,537       7,927,000       (280,463)         -4% 1,583,509       26%

NET OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES) BEFORE DEPR AND PENSION/OPEB 4,186,792       2,688,392       2,431,000       257,392          11% (1,498,400)      -36%

DEPRECIATION 1,371,659       1,607,585       1,602,000       5,585               0% 235,926          17%

GASB 68 PENSION ADJUSTMENT (313,338)         (288,593)         -                        (288,593)         100% 24,745             -8%

OPEB ADJUSTMENT (233,422)         65,497             -                        65,497             100% 298,919          -128%

NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 3,361,893       1,303,903       829,000          474,903          57% (2,057,990)      -61%

NON-OPERATING ITEMS

ELECTION EXPENSE (10,329)           -                        -                        -                        0% 10,329             -100%

GAIN/(LOSS) ON FIXED ASSETS (2,573)              8,954               -                        8,954               100% 11,527             -448%

CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF INVESTMENTS 81,795             460,219          -                        460,219          100% 378,425          463%

INTEREST INCOME 962,626          721,248          545,000          176,248          32% (241,379)         -25%

INTEREST EXPENSE -                        -                        -                        -                        0% -                        0%

INTEREST EXPENSE ON LEASED ASSET LIABILITY (422)                 (323)                 -                        (323)                 0% 99                     -23%

PROPERTY TAXES 626,023          629,891          624,000          5,891               1% 3,868               1%

OPERATING GRANTS 250,000          -                        -                        -                        0% (250,000)         -100%

TOTAL NON-OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 1,907,120       1,819,989       1,169,000       650,989          56% (87,131)           -5%

0%

NET INCOME (LOSS) 5,269,013       3,123,892       1,998,000       1,125,892       56% (2,145,121)      -41%

*Unaudited Financial Statements for Internal Use Only

PORT OF EDMONDS

INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

ACT vs. BUD VAR Δ FROM 2023 Incr (Decr)



2023 YTD 2024 YTD 2024 YTD
ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET $ % $ %

REVENUES

ELECTRICAL FEES 144,943                  146,918                  145,000                  1,918                      1% 1,975                      1%

ENVIRONMENTAL FEES 132,923                  132,885                  133,000                  (115)                        0% (39)                           0%

ENVIRONMENTAL FEE - WORKYARD 34,771                    30,297                    33,000                    (2,703)                     -8% (4,474)                     -13%

FUEL SALES 2,015,888              1,768,042              1,983,000              (214,958)                -11% (247,845)                -12%

LAUNCHER 138,761                  138,131                  117,000                  21,131                    18% (630)                        0%

MISCELLANEOUS 48,472                    61,839                    67,000                    (5,161)                     -8% 13,367                    28%

GUEST MOORAGE 257,462                  238,701                  246,000                  (7,299)                     -3% (18,761)                   -7%

PERMANENT MOORAGE 4,646,117              4,857,343              4,761,000              96,343                    2% 211,226                  5%

PASSENGER FEES 64,193                    83,391                    66,000                    17,391                    26% 19,198                    30%

DRY STORAGE 931,446                  998,685                  963,000                  35,685                    4% 67,239                    7%

PARKING 122,195                  133,118                  128,000                  5,118                      4% 10,923                    9%

TRAVELIFT 170,457                  159,222                  149,000                  10,222                    7% (11,235)                   -7%

WORKYARD 144,117                  176,720                  144,000                  32,720                    23% 32,603                    23%

LATE FEES 37,090                    36,793                    32,000                    4,793                      15% (297)                        -1%

TOTAL MARINA REVENUE 8,888,835              8,962,084              8,967,000              (4,916)                     0% 73,249                    1%

COST OF GOODS SOLD

COST OF SALES 121,714                  132,744                  136,000                  (3,256)                     -2% 11,029                    9%

ELECTRICAL PURCHASES 66,239                    69,348                    72,000                    (2,652)                     -4% 3,108                      5%

FUEL & OIL 1,636,471              1,415,588              1,625,000              (209,412)                -13% (220,883)                -13%

LOAN-A-SLIP CREDITS 24,669                    19,717                    23,000                    (3,283)                     -14% (4,952)                     -20%

TOTAL COST OF GOODS SOLD 1,849,095              1,637,397              1,856,000              (218,603)                -12% (211,698)                -11%

GROSS PROFIT 7,039,740              7,324,687              7,111,000              213,687                  3% 284,947                  4%

OPERATING EXPENSES

ADVERTISING 874                          307                          3,000                      (2,693)                     -90% (567)                        -65%
AUTO AND EQUIPMENT FUEL 11,414                    11,821                    13,000                    (1,179)                     -9% 407                          4%

BUSINESS TAXES 37,477                    30,443                    33,000                    (2,557)                     -8% (7,034)                     -19%

CLAIMS AND DAMAGES 1,702                      19,412                    14,000                    5,412                      39% 17,710                    1041%

EDUCATION AND TRAINING 5,755                      10,091                    14,000                    (3,909)                     -28% 4,335                      75%

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 447,253                  500,518                  521,000                  (20,482)                   -4% 53,265                    12%

HAZARDOUS WASTE DISPOSAL 13,075                    15,709                    16,000                    (291)                        -2% 2,634                      20%

INSURANCE 273,107                  307,757                  313,000                  (5,242)                     -2% 34,651                    13%

LICENSES & PERMITS 2,926                      2,934                      3,000                      (66)                           -2% 8                              0%

MARKETING -                              -                              -                              -                              0% -                              0%

MISCELLANEOUS -                              -                              -                              -                              0% -                              0%

OFFICE 18,567                    16,235                    21,000                    (4,765)                     -23% (2,331)                     -13%

PAYROLL TAXES 205,360                  203,256                  242,000                  (38,744)                   -16% (2,104)                     -1%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 114,095                  248,849                  145,000                  103,849                  72% 134,753                  118%

RENT 15,600                    13,383                    16,000                    (2,617)                     -16% (2,217)                     -14%

REPAIR & MAINTENANCE 110,686                  251,904                  374,000                  (122,096)                -33% 141,218                  128%

SALARIES & WAGES 1,743,944              1,857,097              1,998,000              (140,903)                -7% 113,153                  6%

SUPPLIES 165,273                  112,654                  272,000                  (159,346)                -59% (52,619)                   -32%

UTILITIES 185,452                  210,892                  207,000                  3,892                      2% 25,439                    14%

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 3,352,559              3,813,263              4,205,000              (391,737)                -9% 460,703                  14%

NET OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES) BEFORE DEPR & OH ALLOC 3,687,181              3,511,424              2,906,000              605,424                  21% (175,757)                -5%

DEPRECIATION 693,925                  701,544                  717,000                  (15,456)                   -2% 7,619                      1%

OVERHEAD ALLOCATION (380,965)                511,648                  911,400                  (399,752)                -44% 892,613                  -234%

NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 3,374,221              2,298,232              1,277,600              1,020,632              80% (1,075,989)             -32%

NON-OPERATING ITEMS

GAIN/LOSS ON FIXED ASSETS (2,573)                     8,954                      -                              8,954                      0% 11,527                    -448%

PROPERTY TAX ALLOCATION - LAUNCHER 25,000                    25,000                    25,000                    -                              0% -                              0%

OPERATING GRANTS -                              -                              -                              -                              0% -                              0%

TOTAL NON-OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 22,427                    33,954                    25,000                    8,954                      36% 11,527                    51%

NET INCOME (LOSS) 3,396,648              2,332,186              1,302,600              1,029,586              79% (1,064,462)             -31%

PORT OF EDMONDS
MARINA INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

ACT vs. BUD VAR Δ FROM 2023 Incr (Decr)



2023 YTD 2024 YTD 2024 YTD

ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET $ % $ %
REVENUES

HARBOR SQUARE LEASE REVENUE 1,854,947              1,692,218              1,977,000              (284,782)                -14% (162,729)                -9%

HARBOR SQUARE CAMS 309,449                 277,880                 339,000                 (61,120)                  -18% (31,569)                  -10%

WEST SIDE LEASE REVENUE 351,657                 373,928                 351,000                 22,928                    7% 22,272                    6%

HARBOR SQUARE LEASE INTEREST REVENUE 357,749                 367,580                 281,000                 86,580                    31% 9,831                      3%

WEST SIDE LEASE INTEREST REVENUE 195,091                 181,914                 182,000                 (86)                          0% (13,177)                  -7%

MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 7,087                      5,826                      5,000                      826                         17% (1,261)                     -18%

LATE FEES 3,498                      1,364                      3,000                      (1,636)                     -55% (2,133)                     -61%

TOTAL RENTAL PROPERTY REVENUE 3,079,477              2,900,710              3,138,000              (237,290)                -8% (178,767)                -6%

COST OF GOODS SOLD 326                         221                         1,000                      (779)                        -78% (104)                        -32%

GROSS PROFIT 3,079,152              2,900,488              3,137,000              (236,512)                -8% (178,663)                -6%

OPERATING EXPENSES

ADVERTISING 53                            77                            1,000                      (923)                        -92% 24                            46%

AUTO AND EQUIPMENT FUEL 116                         59                            -                               59                            0% (57)                          -49%

BUSINESS TAXES 184                         104                         -                               104                         0% (80)                          -43%

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 55,821                    66,817                    71,000                    (4,183)                     -6% 10,996                    20%

INSURANCE 84,219                    100,366                 96,000                    4,366                      5% 16,147                    19%

LEASE EXPENSES -                               -                               33,000                    (33,000)                  -100% -                               0%

LICENSES & PERMITS - HS -                               -                               -                               -                               0% -                               0%

MASTER BUSINESS PLAN - HS -                               -                               -                               -                               0% -                               0%

MISCELLANEOUS -                               -                               -                               -                               0% -                               0%

OFFICE 742                         453                         5,000                      (4,548)                     -91% (289)                        -39%

PAYROLL TAXES 19,729                    18,963                    25,000                    (6,037)                     -24% (766)                        -4%

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 9,360                      53,290                    10,000                    43,290                    433% 43,930                    469%

REPAIR & MAINTENANCE 199,259                 580,737                 662,000                 (81,263)                  -12% 381,478                 191%

SALARIES & WAGES 214,713                 247,621                 269,000                 (21,379)                  -8% 32,908                    15%

SUPPLIES 30,103                    30,641                    52,000                    (21,359)                  -41% 537                         2%

TENANT IMPROVEMENTS -                               -                               -                               -                               0% -                               0%

UTILITIES 179,931                 181,375                 216,000                 (34,625)                  -16% 1,444                      1%

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 794,230                 1,280,503              1,440,000              (159,497)                -11% 486,272                 61%

NET OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES) BEFORE DEPR & OH ALLOC 2,284,921              1,619,986              1,697,000              (77,014)                  -5% (664,936)                -29%

DEPRECIATION 609,002                 609,002                 611,000                 (1,998)                     0% (0)                             0%

OVERHEAD ALLOCATION (196,255)                219,278                 390,600                 (171,322)                -44% 415,532                 -212%

NET OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 1,872,174              791,706                 695,400                 96,306                    14% (1,080,468)             -58%

-                               

NON-OPERATING ITEMS

HS LOAN INTEREST -                               -                               -                               -                               0% -                               0%

INTEREST INCOME 191                         -                               -                               -                               0% (191)                        -100%

PROPERTY TAXES -                               -                               -                               -                               0% -                               0%

GAIN/(LOSS) ON FIXED ASSETS -                               -                               -                               -                               0% -                               0%

TOTAL NON-OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 191                         -                               -                               -                               0% (191)                        -100%

NET INCOME (LOSS) 1,872,365              791,706                 695,400                 96,306                    14% (1,080,659)             -58%

PORT OF EDMONDS

RENTAL PROPERTY

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

ACT vs. BUD VAR Δ FROM 2023 Incr (Decr)
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PORT OF EDMONDS 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The management’s discussion and analysis of the Port of Edmonds’ (the Port’s) financial 
performance provides an overview of the Port’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2024. This discussion and analysis are designed to assist the reader in focusing on 
the significant financial issues and activities of the Port and to identify any significant changes in 
financial position. Please read it in conjunction with the Port’s financial statements. 

The Port of Edmonds is a Special Purpose Municipal Government. The Port was created in 1948 
by a vote of the citizens of the Port district. The district encompasses portions of the City of 
Edmonds and all of the Town of Woodway.  

The Port of Edmonds operates a Marina on Puget Sound for recreational boating. The Marina 
consists of an in-water facility with 667 slips, a dry stack storage facility for 224 vessels, two 
public boat launches, a boatyard, a fuel dock, guest moorage, and parking facilities. In addition 
to the Port’s Marina Operations, the Port rents its land to commercial users who then build 
suitable facilities on the land. The Port also owns and manages eight buildings, renting portions 
of those buildings to approximately 60 tenants. Major tenants include a hotel, an athletic club, 
three restaurants, a yacht broker/repair facility, and a yacht club. In addition to its lines of 
business the Port provides the Portwalk, a popular community amenity as well as hosts a series 
of environmental educational programs and community events.  

Five elected Port Commissioners, elected to four-year terms, serve as the governing body of the 
Port. In accordance with the laws of the State of Washington, the Commissioners have 
appointed an Executive Director to manage Port operations, and a Port Auditor to manage the 
Port’s finances. Currently, the Director of Finance and Administration serves as the appointed 
Port Auditor. 

USING THE ANNUAL REPORT 

Governmental accounting falls under the control of the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB). All of the functions of the Port are considered in the numbers shown on the 
following pages, including the cost of general government of the Port district. Since the Port is a 
Special Purpose government, all of its assets and liabilities are shown in its Proprietary Fund. 
The Port incurs a substantial amount of governmental activity expenses, such as Port 
management and administration, public facility maintenance, and public meeting expenses. All 
of these expenses of the Port are reported in the Proprietary Fund. The “one fund” model is 
used in compliance with the rules of GASB 34, which states that separately issued debt and 
separately issued classified assets are needed for a separate fund to exist. Most of the 
governmental costs are contained in the General and Administrative cost centers shown on the 
Port’s financial reports. Since the Port is comprised of a single enterprise fund, no fund level 
financial statements are shown.  
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Ports perform their accounting and financial reporting of their activities very much like a 
business. The Port prepares an income statement, manages operations, and plans for capital 
investments. Ports collect revenues from services performed for customers and pay for 
expenses related to those services. However, Ports are municipal governments. As such, Ports 
may collect property tax revenues from the property owners within the Port district. Ports will 
often use tax revenues to pay for debt incurred to construct facilities that are used to support 
Port functions. Sometimes, Ports may use a portion of their tax revenue to pay for operating 
expenses. The Port of Edmonds uses its tax revenue to pay for Commission costs, to 
supplement the cost of public amenities, and to promote economic development and tourism. 
 
The financial statements provide a broad view of the Port’s operations in a manner similar to a 
private-sector business. The financial statements take into account all revenues and expenses 
connected with the fiscal year even if cash involved has not been received or paid. 
 
The Statement of Net Position (also known as the Balance Sheet) presents all of the Port’s 
assets plus deferred outflow of resources, and liabilities plus deferred inflow of resources, with 
the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases and decreases in 
the Port’s net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the 
Port is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents information 
showing how the Port’s net position changed during the year. Revenues less expenses, when 
combined with other nonoperating items such as investment income, tax receipts and interest 
expense, results in a net increase or decrease in the Port’s net position for the year. 
 
The Statement of Cash Flows reports cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash 
resulting from operations, investing and financing activities. A reconciliation of the cash 
provided by operating activities to the Port’s operating income as reflected on the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position is also included. 
 
The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that may not be readily 
apparent from the actual financial statements. The notes to the financial statements can be 
found immediately following the financial statements. 
 
This discussion of the Port’s financial statements includes an analysis of major changes in the 
assets and liabilities for 2024 in comparison to 2023, as well as reviewing changes in revenues 
and expenses reflected in the financial statements. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS – STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
 

 
 
The Port’s current assets increased by $3.8 million in 2024 mainly due to the increase in cash on 
hand which the Port invests in the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP). LGIP is a voluntary 
investment vehicle operated by the State Treasurer which provides a safe, liquid, and 
competitive investment options for local government pursuant to RCW 43.250. LGIP’s 
investment objectives are, in priority order: 1) safety of principal, 2) maintaining adequate 
liquidity to meet cash flows, and 3) providing a competitive interest rate relative to other 
comparable investment alternatives. LGIP offers 100% liquidity to its participants.  
 
Noncurrent assets decreased by $0.8 million. The decrease is mainly due to the difference 
between the called and matured investments retained as cash and a decrease in lease 
receivable – non-current and net pension asset.  
 
Net capital assets decreased by $0.7 million because the construction of the Port’s new 
Administration and Maintenance building took place mainly in 2023 with the remaining of the 
project completed in the first quarter of 2024. 
 
Deferred outflows of resources increased by $0.2 million, primarily due to an increase in 
deferred pension outflow.  
 

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=43.250
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Current liabilities include payments for expenses already incurred, unearned revenue, customer 
deposits, employee leave benefits, and the current portions of leased assets liability and other 
post-employment benefits liability. The Port’s current liabilities increased by $0.1 million mainly 
due to increases in accounts payable, employee leave benefits, and accrued wages payable.  
 
The Port’s long-term liabilities are the long-term portion of the leased assets liability, other 
postemployment benefits liability, net pension liability, environmental remediation liability, and 
underground storage tank retirement obligation. Noncurrent liabilities decreased by $7,000 due 
to decreases in leased asset liability and net pension liability offset by increase in other 
postemployment benefits and underground storage tank retirement obligation.  
 
Deferred inflows of resources decreased by $0.7 million, due to a decrease in deferred pension 
inflow and deferred lease inflow. 
 
Net investment in capital assets decreased by $0.7 million because of the construction of the 
new Administration and Maintenance building mainly took place in 2023. The Port restricted 
$0.6 million of net position is a result of the net pension asset, adjusted by the associated 
deferred outflows and inflows. As of December 31, 2024, the Port’s assets exceeded its 
liabilities by $59.2 million (net position), which is an increase of $3.1 million or 6%. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 
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The Port records the acquisition of all assets at historical costs on its Statement of Net Position. 
In 2024, the Port launched an initiative to split the North Portwalk & Reconstruction Project 
into three phases. The Port began Phase I of the new Administration and Maintenance Building 
in 2021 with total costs of $10.2 million incurred as of December 31, 2024. It was placed in 
service in Q1 2024 for capitalization.  
 
As of December 31, 2024, the Port is in the design and engineering stages of the North Portwalk 
& Seawall Reconstruction Project with a total cost of $131,000 in Phase II for Site Prep and 
Electrification and $844,000 for Phase III for North Seawall and Portwalk Rebuild, with expected 
construction to begin in 2027 or 2028. The Port has submitted permits and is waiting for 
approval to proceed with the final design. 
 
The Port’s capital assets are classified into the following categories: land, construction in 
progress, buildings, marina and other improvements, machinery and equipment, and right to 
use leased assets. Marina and other improvements include assets such as docks, breakwaters, 
the dry stack facility, roads, and landscaping. See Note 4, Capital Assets and Depreciation, in the 
Notes to the Financial Statements for more information. 
 
The Port maintained capital assets of $68.2 million as of December 31, 2024, which is an 
increase of $0.9 million compared to December 31, 2023 as a result of investments in capital 
assets, offset by depreciation. When the Port invests more than depreciation in new capital 
assets in a year, the book value of its asset base increases.  
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS – REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 
 

 
 

The Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position presents the changes in net 
position.  
 
The Port’s 2024 Marina Operations revenues were $9.1 million, an increase of $52,000 or 1% 
compared to 2023. The increase is mainly due to increase in Permanent Moorage and Dry 
Storage rates offset by fewer quantity of fuel sold in 2024 compared to 2023.  
 
2024 Rental Properties revenues were $2.4 million, a decrease of $0.2 million or 7% compared 
to 2023. The decrease is due to lower occupancy rate at Harbor Square Complex.  
 
The Port’s 2024 operating expenses were $10.7 million, an increase of $1.9 million or 22% 
compared to 2023. The increase is the result of an increase of repair & maintenance of $0.6 
million due to building 3 and 4 atrium windows project, engagement in professional services to 
support the lobbying effort to obtain grant funding for the North Seawall and Portwalk 
Reconstruction Project and Finance Consultant to support strategic goals of $0.3 million in 
combined, an increase in salaries and wages of $0.2 million due to CPI of 4.6% adjustment, an 
increase in marketing of $0.1 million due to Port rebranding, an increase in employee benefits 
of $0.1 million parallel to salaries & wages increased, and audit expense of $38,000 and 
strategic plan expense of $37,000 that did not occurred in 2023.  
 
The Port’s operating income was $0.8 million in 2024, which is $2.0 million or 71% lower when 
compared to 2023. 
 
The Port’s 2024 net non-operating revenues and expenses were $2.4 million, a decrease of 
$90,000 or 4% when compared to 2023. This difference includes a decrease of interest income, 
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the Port receiving a COVID grant in 2023 but not in 2024, and offset by a positive change in fair 
value of investments. 
 
In 2024, the Port’s net position increased by $3.1 million, as compared to $5.3 million in 2023. 
 

 
 

 
 
STATE AND FEDERAL GRANT/APPROPRIATIONS 
 
The Port has been applying for grants and appropriations at both the State and Federal level to 
assist in paying for infrastructure improvements. In 2024, the Port launched an initiative to split 
the North Portwalk & Reconstruction Project into three phases. 
 
In Q1 2024, the Port has completed Phase I of the North Portwalk & Seawall Reconstruction 
Project which is the construction of a new Administration and Maintenance building using 
capital improvement reserve funds. Phase II is site preparation (removal of old Administration 
building) and electrification with projected start date of Q4 2025 estimated for $2.8 million. 
Phase III will be Seawall construction and Portwalk upgrades to provide flood protection and 
resiliency. The projected start date is expected to begin in 2027 or 2028 estimated for $29.1 
million. 
 
In 2023, the Port was awarded the Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO) grant up to 
$500,000. The period of performance began on August 1, 2023 (project start date) and will end 
on December 31, 2026 (project end date). No allowable cost incurred before or after this period 
is eligible for reimbursement unless specifically provided for by written amendment or 
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addendum to the Agreement. The Port plans to apply this grant for Phase II of the North 
Portwalk and Seawall Reconstruction Project as the demolition of the old building is considered 
development costs under RCO guidelines.  
 
In 2024, WSDOT was awarded the Port Electrification Competitive Grant for Phase II of the 
North Portwalk and Seawall Reconstruction Project.  
 
Current to date, the Port received the following Capital Grants for Phase II: 
 

 
 
Furthermore, the Port has also been rewarded with $1.25 million of Federal Appropriations 
Capital Grant for Phase III. 
 
The Port of Edmonds will use this grant to reconstruct and renovate a 900-foot-long section of 
deteriorated waterfront public boardwalk (i.e., North Portwalk) that extends between the Port 
of Edmonds Administration Building and Olympic Beach. The existing treated-wood boardwalk 
will be replaced within the same footprint but elevated six inches to create better pedestrian 
separation from the adjacent drive/fire lane and to improve pedestrian accessibility. The new 
walkway will have steel framing, steel railings and a deck of concrete panels inset with clear 
glass blocks. This non-slip walking surface is an environmentally conscious design that allows 
sunlight to penetrate to the water inhabitants below. Development will also include restroom 
facilities, expanded parking, landscaping, integrated lighting and way-finding signage. Addi-
tional development will also include two plazas adjacent to the boardwalk which will showcase 
public art and will provide public gathering spaces. The primary recreation opportunity pro-
vided by this project will be upgraded public access to the shoreline and enhanced public amen-
ities along the waterfront. 
 
CONTACTING THE PORT’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and 
creditors with a general overview of the Port’s finances and to show the Port’s accountability 
for the money it receives. If you have questions or need additional information, please visit our 
website at www.portofedmonds.gov or contact: Director of Finance and Administration, 471 
Admiral Way, Edmonds, WA 98020. Telephone (425) 774-0549. 
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Reserve for Cash Flow  
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Reserve for Cash Flow
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PORT OF EDMONDS 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 
 
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial statements of the Port of Edmonds (the Port) have been prepared in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governments. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The significant 
accounting policies are described below. 
 
A. Reporting Entity 
 

The Port was incorporated in December 1948 and operates under the laws of the State 
of Washington applicable to public port districts. The Port is a special purpose 
government and provides marina and property lease/rental operations to the general 
public and is supported primarily through user charges. The Port is governed by an 
elected five-member board.  
 
As required by generally accepted accounting principles, management has considered 
all potential component units in defining the reporting entity. The Port has no 
component units.  

 
B. Basis of Accounting and Reporting 
 

The accounting records of the Port are maintained in accordance with methods 
prescribed by the State Auditor under the authority of RCW 43.09. The Port uses the 
Budgeting, Accounting and Reporting System for GAAP Cities, Counties, and Special 
Purpose Districts in the State of Washington. 

 
The Port’s financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the full-accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded 
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the 
timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year in 
which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
All assets and all liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) associated with the Port’s 
activity are included on the statement of net position. Net position is segregated into 
net investment in capital assets, and restricted and unrestricted components of net 
position. Operating statements present increases (revenues and gains) and decreases 
(expenses and losses) in the net position. The Port discloses changes in cash flows in a 
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separate statement that presents its operating, noncapital financing, capital and related 
financing, and investing activities. 
 
The Port distinguishes between operating revenues and expenses and non-operating 
items. Operating revenues and expenses result from providing services and producing 
and delivering goods in connection with the Port’s principal ongoing operations. The 
principal operating revenues of the Port are charges to customers for boating services 
and land and building lease revenues. Operating expenses for the Port include general 
operations, maintenance, general and administrative, and depreciation. Revenues and 
expenses not meeting these definitions are reported as non-operating revenues and 
expenses. 
 

C. Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain 
reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 

 
D. Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position 
 

1. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

It is the Port’s policy to invest all temporary cash surpluses. On December 31, 
2024, the treasurer was holding $13.2 million in short-term residual investments 
of surplus cash. This amount is classified on the Statement of Net Position as 
cash and cash equivalents. 
 
The Port considers all highly liquid investments (including restricted assets) with 
a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 
 

2. Investments – See Note 2, Deposits and Investments. 
 

3. Receivables 
 

Accounts receivable consist of amounts owed from private individuals or 
organizations for goods and services, including amounts owed for which billings 
have not been prepared. Accounts receivable has been recorded net of 
estimated uncollectible amounts. The allowance for doubtful account is $50,000 
as of December 31, 2024. 

 
Lease receivable consists of the present value of lease payments expected to be 
received over lease terms that exceed one year. Lease receivable – current is the 
portion that will be received in the upcoming year. Lease receivable – non-
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current is the portion that will be received more than a year from December 31, 
2024 through the end of the lease term. As the Port estimates that all lease 
receivable amounts will be collected, no estimated uncollectible amounts are 
established. 

 
Taxes receivable consists of property taxes and related interest and penalties 
(See Note 3, Property Taxes). Because property taxes are considered liens on 
property, no estimated uncollectible amounts are established. 
 
Interest receivable consists of amounts earned on investments at the end of the 
year. 
 

4. Inventory 
 

Inventory consists of fuel held for sale to customers. Inventory is valued by the 
First In, First Out (FIFO) cost method, which approximates market value. The cost 
is recorded as general operations at the time the inventory items are consumed. 
 

5. Prepaid Expenses 
 

Prepaid expenses include items that were paid for but have not yet incurred. 
Examples are insurance, dues, advertising, marketing programs, and software 
maintenance agreements. 
 

6. Capital Assets and Depreciation - See Note 4, Capital Assets and Depreciation. 
 
Capital assets include land, buildings, equipment, improvements, and intangible 
right to use leased assets. Capital assets are defined by the Port as assets with an 
initial individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated useful life in excess 
of 1 year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost, 
where historical cost is not known. Donated capital assets are recorded at 
acquisition value at the date of donation.  
 
Costs for additions or improvements to capital assets are capitalized when they 
increase the effectiveness or efficiency of the asset. The costs for normal 
maintenance and repairs are not capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets and 
improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.  
 
The Port has acquired certain assets with funding provided by State and Federal 
financial assistance programs. Depending on the terms of the agreements 
involved, the federal and state governments could retain an equity interest in 
these assets. However, the Port has sufficient legal interest to accomplish the 
purposes for which the assets were acquired and has included such assets within 
the applicable account.  
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When an asset is sold, retired, or otherwise disposed of, the original cost of the 
property and the cost of installation, less salvage, is removed from the Port of 
Edmonds’ capital asset accounts, accumulated depreciation is charged with the 
accumulated depreciation related to the property sold, and the net gain or loss 
on disposition is credited or charged to income. 
 
Depreciation expense is charged to operations to allocate the cost of capital 
assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method based on 
the following estimated useful lives: 

 
 Buildings and Structures 10 to 50 years 
 Machinery and Equipment 3 to 20 years 
 Other Improvements 10 to 50 years 
 Right to Use Leased Asset Term of lease 

 
7. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

 
The Port reports deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources separately 
on the Statement of Net Position. Deferred outflows of resources represent a 
consumption of net assets that apply to a future period(s). Conversely, deferred 
inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net assets that apply to a future 
period(s).  
 

8. Employee Leave Benefits 
 

Employee leave benefits are absences for which employees will be paid, such as 
vacation leave. The Port records employees leave benefits as an expense and 
liability when earned. 

 
Each employee may carry forward 120 hours of vacation pay to the following 
year. Unused vacation pay is payable upon separation, retirement, or death. Sick 
leave may accumulate up to 1,000 hours. No accrual is made for sick pay for 
employees as it expires if unused.  
 

9. Pensions 
 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, net pension asset, deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and 
pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of all state 
sponsored pension plans and additions to/deductions from those plans’ fiduciary 
net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by 
the Washington State Department of Retirement Systems. For this purpose, 
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized 
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when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are 
reported at fair value. 

 
For purposes of calculating restricted net position related to the net pension 
asset, the Port includes the net pension asset only. 

 
10. Accrued Expenses 

 
Accrued expenses consist of accrued leasehold, payroll, sales and business taxes, 
employee withholdings, accrued wages payable, and abandoned property. 
 

11. Unearned Revenue 
 
On December 31, 2024, the Port held $0.1 million in Unearned Revenue. These 
amounts are prepayments of rent and will be recognized as revenue in 2024. 
 

12. Net Position Classification 
 
The difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources less liabilities 
and deferred inflows of resources is called net position. Net position is 
comprised of three components: net investment in capital assets, restricted, and 
unrestricted. The Port’s Statement of Net Position reports $0.6 million of 
restricted net position for pension asset as per Note 7, Pension Plans. None of 
the restricted net position is restricted by enabling legislation. 
 

13. Leases (Port as Lessor) – See Note 11, Leases  
 
The Port is a lessor for noncancelable leases. Leases are contracts that convey 
control of a right to use the Port’s land, buildings, or portions of buildings over a 
period of time that exceeds one year. For leases with a maximum possible term 
of 12 months or less at commencement, revenue is recognized based on the 
provisions of the lease contract. For all other leases, the Port recognizes a lease 
receivable and a deferred inflow when the lease commences.  

 
At lease commencement, the lease receivable is initially measured at the present 
value of payments expected to be received during the lease term. Subsequently, 
the lease receivable is reduced by the principal portion of lease payments made. 
The deferred inflow of resources is initially measured as the initial amount of the 
lease receivable, adjusted for lease payments received at or before the lease 
commencement date. Subsequently, the deferred inflow of resources is recog-
nized as lease revenue using the interest rate method over the lease term.  
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Key estimates and judgments include how the Port determines (1) the discount 
rate it uses to calculate the present value of the expected lease payments, (2) 
lease term, and (3) lease payments. 
 

1. The discount rate for leases is based on the rate of interest the lessee 
would be charged to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments, 
respectively, under similar terms at the commencement or 
remeasurement date. The Port determines the discount as follows: 
 

a. If the lease term is 20 years or more, the implicit rate in the lease 
agreement is used.  

b. If the lease term is less than 20 years, the lessee’s borrowing rate 
is estimated as follows: 
 

 
 

2. The lease term includes the noncancellable period of the lease plus any 
additional periods covered by either a lessee or lessor option to (1) 
extend for which it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or (2) terminate 
for which it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. Periods in which 
both the lessee and the lessor/vendor have a unilateral option to 
terminate (or if both parties must agree to extend) are excluded from the 
lease or subscription term. Current Port leases have been extended from 
2 to 25 years. The Port has two longer-term building leases of 35 and 40 
years with multiple lease extensions of 5 to 10 years each. Land leases 
are typically 30 to 50 years with two or more extensions of 5 to 15 years, 
as the tenant has invested in constructing and maintaining a building on 
the leased land. 
 

3. Port procedure is to negotiate all leases at fair market value, considering 
market conditions, economic factors, property condition, and location, as 
well as other factors that may impact negotiating lease prices. Land 
leases rent ranges from $5,000 to $14,000 per month. Building leases and 
major portions of building leases rent range from $19,000 to $27,000 per 
month. Partial building lease rent ranges from $700 to $13,000 per 
month.  
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The Port monitors changes in circumstances that may require remeasurement of 
a lease receivable. When certain changes occur that are expected to significantly 
affect the amount of the lease, the receivable is remeasured, and a 
corresponding adjustment is made to the deferred inflow of resources. 
 

14. Leases (Port as Lessee) – See Note 11, Leases  
 
The Port is a lessee for noncancelable leases. Leases are contracts that convey 
control of a right to use an asset over a period that exceeds one year. For leases 
with a maximum possible term of 12 months or less at commencement, 
expenses are recognized based on the provisions of the lease contract. For all 
other leases, the Port recognizes an intangible right-to-use leased asset and a 
lease liability when the lease commences. The Port recognizes lease liabilities 
with an initial, individual value of $5,000 or more. 

 
At lease commencement, the intangible asset and the lease liability is measured 
at the present value of payments expected to be made during the lease term. 
Subsequently, the lease liability is reduced by the principal portion of lease 
payments made. The lease asset is initially measured as the initial amount of the 
lease liability, adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease 
commencement date, plus certain initial direct costs. The intangible asset is 
amortized monthly using the straight-line method over the lease term.  
 
Key estimates and judgments include (1) the discount rate used to calculate the 
present value of the expected lease payments, (2) lease term, and (3) lease 
payments. 
 

1. The discount rate for leases is based on the rate of interest the Port 
would be charged to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments, 
respectively, under similar terms at the commencement or 
remeasurement date. The Port estimates that its borrowing rate would 
be similar to the rate its bank offers to government borrowers.  
 

2. The lease term includes the noncancellable period of the lease plus any 
additional periods covered by either a lessee or lessor option to (1) 
extend for which it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or (2) terminate 
for which it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. Periods in which 
both the lessee and the lessor/vendor have a unilateral option to 
terminate (or if both parties have to agree to extend) are excluded from 
the lease or subscription term. The lease term for the Port’s copier 
contract is 60 months. 
 

3. The total monthly payment for leasing three copiers is $448. 
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The Port monitors changes in circumstances that may require remeasurement of 
a lease liability. When certain changes occur that are expected to significantly 
affect the amount of the lease, the leased asset and liability are remeasured. 

 
15. Subscription-based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITA) - A SBITA is a con-

tract that conveys control of the right to use a third-party’s information technology 
software. SBITAs that have maximum possible term under the SBITA contract of 12 
months or less are considered a short-term SBITA and expensed as incurred. The 
Port recognized a subscription liability and an intangible right-to-use (RTU) subscrip-
tion asset at the beginning of a SBITA, unless the SBITA is considered a short-term 
SBITA. A subscription liability is measured at the present value of subscription pay-
ments expected to be made during the subscription term using the Port’s incremen-
tal borrowing rate. A subscription asset is initially recorded at the initial measure-
ment of the subscription liability, plus subscription payments made at the com-
mencement of the subscription term, less any incentives received from the SBITA 
vendor at or before the commencement of the subscription term. The commence-
ment of the subscription term occurs when the Port has obtained control of the 
right to use the underlying subscription assets, and the subscription asset is placed 
into service. A subscription asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
shorter of the subscription term or the useful life of the underlying subscription as-
set. Remeasurement of subscription liability occurs when there is a change in the 
subscription term and/or other changes that are likely to have a significant impact 
on the subscription liability. The Port calculates the amortization of the discount on 
the subscription liability and reports that amount as outflows of resources. SBITAs 
that do not have implicit interest rates, the incremental borrowing rates (IBR) are 
used. IBR’s are estimated rates the Port would be charged for borrowing the pay-
ment amounts during the subscription term. Payments are allocated first to accrued 
interest liability and then to the lease liability. Variable payments based on the us-
age of the underlying assets are not included in the subscription liability calculations 
but are recognized as outflows of resources in the period in which the obligation was 
incurred. The Port did not have any agreements that met definition of SBITA as of 
December 31, 2024. 

 
NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 

 
A. Deposits 

 
Cash on hand on December 31, 2024 was $1,000 in petty cash and change funds. The 
carrying amount of the Port’s deposits, including the Local Government Investment Pool 
(LGIP), was $13.2 million.  
 
Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in event of a 
failure of a depository financial institution, the Port would not be able to recover 
deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in possession of an 
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outside party. The Port’s policy is that bank deposits and certificates of deposit must be 
entirely covered by federal depository insurance (FDIC) or by collateral held in a multiple 
financial institution collateral pool administered by the Washington Public Deposit 
Protection Commission (PDPC).  
 

B. Deposits in Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) 
 

The Port is a voluntary participant in the Local Government Investment Pool, an external 
investment pool operated by the Washington State Treasurer. The pool is not rated and 
is not registered with the SEC. Rather, oversight is provided by the State Finance 
Committee in accordance with RCW 43.250. Deposits in the LGIP are reported at 
amortized cost, which is the same as the value of the pool per share. The LGIP does not 
impose any restrictions on participant withdrawals. 
 
As the maturity of LGIP investments is 3 months or less, the Port considers LGIP deposits 
to be cash equivalents. 

 
The Office of the State Treasurer prepares a stand-alone LGIP financial report. A copy of 
the report is available from the Office of the State Treasurer, PO Box 40200, Olympia, 
Washington 98504-0200, or online at http://www.tre.wa.gov. 
 

C. Investments Authorized 
 

The Port may invest in all types of securities approved by State law. Those securities 
include: 
 
1. Savings or time accounts, including certificates of deposit, in designated qualified 

public depositories in accordance with RCW 39.58. 
 
2. Certificates of deposit in commercial banks, savings and loan associations, and 

mutual savings banks doing business in this state, but not holding collateral pur-
suant to RCW 39.58, in an amount not in excess of FDIC or FSLIC insurance cover-
age. 

 
3. Certificates, notes, or bonds of the United States, or other obligations of the U.S. 

government or its agencies, or of any corporation wholly owned by the govern-
ment of the United States. 

 
4. Federal home loan bank notes and bonds, Federal land bank bonds, Federal na-

tional mortgage association notes, debentures, and guaranteed certificates of 
participation. 

 

http://www.tre.wa.gov/
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5. Obligations of any other government sponsored corporation whose obligations 
are or may become eligible as collateral for advances to member banks as deter-
mined by the board of governors of the federal reserve systems. 

 
6. Bonds of the state of Washington and any local government in the State of 

Washington carry one of the three highest ratings of a nationally recognized rat-
ing agency. 

 
7. General obligation bonds of a state other than the state of Washington and gen-

eral obligation bonds of a local government of a state other than the state of 
Washington carry one of the three highest ratings of a nationally recognized rat-
ing agency. 

 
8. Shares of money market funds with portfolios consisting of securities otherwise 

authorized by law for investment by local governments. 
 

D. Investments 
 

It is the Port’s policy to invest all temporary cash surpluses. Port staff invests surplus 
cash according to Port Resolution Number 13-12. Investment objectives, in priority 
order, are safety, liquidity, and return on investment. 
 
Investments are subject to the following risks: 

 
Interest Rate Risk: Interest rate risk is the risk that an investment’s fair value decreases 
as market interest rates increase. Through its investment policy, the Port manages its 
exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates by setting maturity 
and effective duration limits for the Port’s Investment Portfolio. Securities within the 
portfolio are laddered and limited to maximum terms of five years.  

 
As of December 31, 2024, the Port held the following investments: 
 

 
 

Credit Risk: Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment 
will not fulfill its obligations. The Port manages this risk through its investment policy, 
which requires that only highly secure investments may be purchased. 
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On December 31, 2024, the Port’s investments had the following credit quality 
distribution for securities with credit exposure: 
 

 
 
Custodial Credit Risk: Custodial credit risk is the risk that in event of a failure of the 
counterparty to an investment transaction, the Port would not be able to recover the 
value of the investment or collateral securities that are in possession of an outside 
party. All security transactions entered into by the Port of Edmonds are conducted on a 
delivery-versus-payment (DVP) basis. Securities purchased by the Port are delivered 
against payment and held in a custodial safekeeping account. The Port has designated 
U.S. Bank as the third-party custodian. Safekeeping receipts evidence all transactions. 
None of the Port’s investments are held by counterparties. 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk: Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributable 
to the magnitude of an investment in a single issuer. The Port’s U.S. Treasury and U.S. 
Agency investments are secured by the full faith and credit of the United States 
government. As all U.S. Treasury and U.S. Agency bonds are backed by the full faith and 
credit of the United States government, the Port’s investment policy does not require 
diversification of U.S. bonds.  

 
E. Investments Measured at Fair Value 

 
The Port’s investments, stated at fair value, are based on quoted market prices for 
similar assets in accordance with GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and 
Application. Accordingly, the change in the fair value of an investment is recognized as 
an increase or decrease in the investment asset and investment income. 
 
The Port measures and reports investments at fair value using the valuation input 
hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles, as follows: 
 

• Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

• Level 2: Quoted market prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices for 
identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other 
than quoted prices that are not observable; 

• Level 3: Unobservable inputs for an asset or liability. 
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As of December 31, 2024, the Port held the following investments measured at fair 
value: 

 

 
 
F. Change in Fair Value of Investments 
 

Change in fair value of investments of $0.5 million is the difference between the price 
on December 31, 2023 or the date when the Port of Edmonds purchased the securities, 
whichever is later, and the fair value at December 31, 2024. GASB Statement Number 
31, paragraph 7, requires the Port to “…report investments at fair value in the balance 
sheets. Fair value is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a current 
transaction between willing parties…” The market value or fair value is reported to the 
Port by U.S. Bank, the Port’s third-party safekeeping bank. If the Port holds the 
investments to maturity or call date, there will be no realized loss or gain. 

 
G. Summary of Deposit and Investment Balances 
 

The table below reconciles the Port’s deposits and investment balances as of December 
31, 2024: 
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NOTE 3 – PROPERTY TAXES 
 

The county treasurer acts as an agent to collect property taxes levied in the county for all taxing 
authorities.  
 

Property Tax Calendar 

January 1  Taxes are levied and become an enforceable lien against properties. 

February 14  Tax bills are mailed. 

April 30  First of two equal installment payments is due. 

May 31 
 Assessed value of property is established for next year’s levy at 100 

percent of market value. 

October 31  Second installment is due. 

 
Property taxes are recorded as a receivable when levied, offset by an unearned revenue. During 
the year, property tax revenues are recognized equally over all twelve months. Property taxes 
collected in advance of the fiscal year to which it applies are recorded as a deferred inflow and 
recognized as revenue of the period to which it applies. No allowance for uncollectible tax is 
established because delinquent taxes are considered fully collectible. Prior year tax levies were 
recorded using the same principle, and delinquent taxes are evaluated annually. 
 
The Port may levy up to $0.45 per $1,000 of assessed valuation for general governmental 
services. Washington State Constitution and Washington State law, RCW 84.55.010, limit the 
rate. The Port may also levy taxes at a lower rate. 
 
The Port’s regular levy for 2024 was approximately $0.0684 per $1,000 on an assessed 
valuation of $9,130,461,265 for a total regular tax levy of $625,156.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

30 

NOTE 4 – CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEPRECIATION 
 
Capital assets activity for the year ended December 31, 2024, was as follows: 
 

 
 
NOTE 5 – CONSTRUCTION AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT COMMITMENTS 
 
As of December 31, 2024, the Port is in the permitting phase of the North Seawall and Portwalk 
Rebuild Project. At year end, the Port’s commitments with contractors and consultants were as 
follows: 
 

 
 
The Port has spent approximately $1.0 million in design and planning phase for the North 
Seawall and Portwalk Rebuild Project current to date. The Port has not begun construction or 
under contractual obligations, but the Port is committed to moving forward with this project.  
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NOTE 6 – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 

There have been no material violations of finance-related legal or contractual provisions. 
 
NOTE 7 – PENSION – STATE SPONSORED (DRS) PLANS 
 
The following table represents the aggregate pension amounts for all plans for the year 2024: 
 

Aggregate Pension Amounts – All Plans 

Pension liabilities $                                 (235,609) 

Pension assets $                                  566,582 

Deferred outflows of resources $                                     788,040 

Deferred inflows of resources $                                 (239,966) 

Pension expense/(credit) $                                    (33,078) 

 
State Sponsored Pension Plans 
 
Substantially all of the Port’s full-time and qualifying part-time employees participate in one of 
the following statewide retirement systems administered by the Washington State Department 
of Retirement Systems, under cost-sharing, multiple-employer public employee defined benefit 
and defined contribution retirement plans. The state Legislature establishes, and amends, laws 
pertaining to the creation and administration of all public retirement systems. 
 
The Department of Retirement Systems (DRS), a department within the primary government of 
the State of Washington, issues a publicly available annual comprehensive financial report 
(ACFR) that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for each 
plan. The DRS ACFR may be downloaded from the DRS website at www.drs.wa.gov. 
 
Public Employees’ Retirement System (PERS) 
 
PERS members include elected officials; state employees; employees of the Supreme, Appeals 
and Superior Courts; employees of the legislature; employees of district and municipal courts; 
employees of local governments; and higher education employees not participating in higher 
education retirement programs. PERS is comprised of three separate pension plans for 
membership purposes. PERS plans 1 and 2 are defined benefit plans, and PERS plan 3 is a 
defined benefit plan with a defined contribution component. 
 
PERS Plan 1 provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Retirement benefits are 
determined as two percent of the member’s average final compensation (AFC) times the 
member’s years of service. The AFC is the average of the member’s 24 highest consecutive 
service months. Members are eligible for retirement from active status at any age with at least 
30 years of service, at age 55 with at least 25 years of service, or at age 60 with at least five 
years of service. Members retiring from active status prior to the age of 65 may receive 

http://www.drs.wa.gov/
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actuarially reduced benefits. Retirement benefits are actuarially reduced to reflect the choice of 
a survivor benefit. Other benefits include duty and non-duty disability payments, an optional 
cost-of-living adjustment (COLA), and a one-time duty-related death benefit, if found eligible by 
the Department of Labor and Industries. PERS 1 members were vested after the completion of 
five years of eligible service. The plan was closed to new entrants on September 30, 1977. 
 
Contributions 
 
The PERS Plan 1 member contribution rate is established by State statute at 6 percent. The 
employer contribution rate is developed by the Office of the State Actuary and includes an 
administrative expense component that is currently set at 0.20 percent. Each biennium, the 
state Pension Funding Council adopts Plan 1 employer contribution rates. The PERS Plan 1 
required contribution rates (expressed as a percentage of covered payroll) for 2024 were as 
follows: 
 

PERS Plan 1   

Actual Contribution Rates Employer Employee* 

January – June 2024   

PERS Plan 1 6.36% 6.00% 

PERS Plan 1 UAAL 2.97%  

Administrative Fee 0.20%  

Total 9.53% 6.00% 

July – August 2024   

PERS Plan 1 6.36% 6.00% 

PERS Plan 1 UAAL 2.47%  

Administrative Fee 0.20%  

Total 9.03% 6.00% 

September – December 2024   

PERS Plan 1 6.36% 6.00% 

PERS Plan 1 UAAL 2.55%  

Administrative Fee 0.20%  

Total 9.11% 6.00% 

 
PERS Plan 2/3 provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Retirement benefits are 
determined as two percent of the member’s average final compensation (AFC) times the 
member’s years of service for Plan 2 and 1 percent of AFC for Plan 3. The AFC is the average of 
the member’s 60 highest-paid consecutive service months. There is no cap on years of service 
credit. Members are eligible for retirement with a full benefit at 65 with at least five years of 
service credit. Retirement before age 65 is considered an early retirement. PERS Plan 2/3 
members who have at least 20 years of service credit and are 55 years of age or older, are 
eligible for early retirement with a benefit that is reduced by a factor that varies according to 
age for each year before age 65. PERS Plan 2/3 members who have 30 or more years of service 
credit and are at least 55 years old can retire under one of two provisions: 
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• With a benefit that is reduced by three percent for each year before age 65; or 

• With a benefit that has a smaller (or no) reduction (depending on age) that imposes 
stricter return-to-work rules. 

 
PERS Plan 2/3 members hired on or after May 1, 2013 have the option to retire early by 
accepting a reduction of five percent for each year of retirement before age 65. This option is 
available only to those who are age 55 or older and have at least 30 years of service credit. 
PERS Plan 2/3 retirement benefits are also actuarially reduced to reflect the choice of a survivor 
benefit. Other PERS Plan 2/3 benefits include duty and non-duty disability payments, a cost-of-
living allowance (based on the CPI), capped at three percent annually and a one-time duty 
related death benefit, if found eligible by the Department of Labor and Industries. PERS 2 
members are vested after completing five years of eligible service. Plan 3 members are vested 
in the defined benefit portion of their plan after ten years of service; or after five years of 
service if 12 months of that service are earned after age 44. 
 
PERS Plan 3 defined contribution benefits are totally dependent on employee contributions and 
investment earnings on those contributions. PERS Plan 3 members choose their contribution 
rate upon joining membership and have a chance to change rates upon changing employers. As 
established by statute, Plan 3 required defined contribution rates to be set at a minimum of 5 
percent and escalate to 15 percent with a choice of six options. Employers do not contribute to 
the defined contribution benefits. PERS Plan 3 members are immediately vested in the defined 
contribution portion of their plan. 
 
Contributions 
 
The PERS Plan 2/3 employer and employee contribution rates are developed by the Office of 
the State Actuary to fully fund Plan 2 and the defined benefit portion of Plan 3. The Plan 2/3 
employer rates include a component to address the PERS Plan 1 UAAL and an administrative 
expense that is currently set at 0.20 percent. Each biennium, the state Pension Funding Council 
adopts Plan 2 employer and employee contribution rates and Plan 3 contribution rates.  
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The PERS Plan 2/3 required contribution rates (expressed as a percentage of covered payroll) 
for 2024 were as follows: 
 

PERS Plan 2/3   

Actual Contribution Rates Employer 2/3 Employee 2* 

January – June 2024   

PERS Plan 2/3 6.36% 6.36% 

PERS Plan 1 UAAL 2.97%  

Administrative Fee 0.20%  

Employee PERS Plan 3  Varies 

Total 9.53% 6.36% 

July - August 2024   

PERS Plan 2/3 6.36% 6.36% 

PERS Plan 1 UAAL 2.47%  

Administrative Fee 0.20%  

Employee PERS Plan 3  Varies 

Total 9.03% 6.36% 

September – December 2024   

PERS Plan 2/3 6.36% 6.36% 

PERS Plan 1 UAAL 2.55%  

Administrative Fee 0.20%  

Employee PERS Plan 3  Varies 

Total 9.11% 6.36% 

 
The Port’s actual PERS plan contributions were $77,244 to PERS Plan 1 and $178,272 to PERS 
Plan 2/3 for the year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions  
 
The total pension liability (TPL) for each of the plans was determined using the most recent 
actuarial valuation completed in 2024 with a valuation date of June 30, 2023. The actuarial 
assumptions used in the valuation are summarized in the Actuarial Section of DRS’ Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report located on the DRS website. The actuarial assumptions used 
in the June 30, 2023 valuation were based on the results of the 2013-2018 Demographic 
Experience Study Report and the 2023 Economic Experience Study. 
 
The TPL was calculated as of the valuation date and rolled forward to the measurement date of 
June 30, 2024. Plan liabilities were rolled forward from June 30, 2023, to June 30, 2024, 
reflecting each plan’s normal cost (using the entry age cost method), assumed interest and 
actual benefit payments. 
 

• Inflation: 2.75% total economic inflation; 3.25% salary inflation 
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• Salary increases: In addition to the base 3.25% salary inflation assumption, salaries are 
also expected to grow by service-based salary increases. 

• Investment rate of return: 7.00% 
 
Mortality rates were developed using the Society of Actuaries' Pub.H-2010 mortality rates, 
which vary by member status (e.g., active, retiree, or survivor), as our base table. OSA applied 
age offsets for each system, as appropriate, to better tailor the mortality rates to the 
demographics of each plan. OSA applied the long-term MP-2017 generational improvement 
scale, also developed by the Society of Actuaries, to project mortality rates for every year after 
the 2010 base table. Under "generational" mortality, a member is assumed to receive 
additional mortality improvements in each future year, throughout their lifetime. 
 
Change in Assumptions and Methods: Actuarial results that OSA provided within this 
publication reflect the following changes in assumptions and methods: 
 
Assumption Changes: 

• Assumptions did not change from the prior contribution rate setting June 30, 2022 
Actuarial Valuation Report (AVR). 

 
Method Changes: 

• OSA adjusted their methods for calculating UAAL contribution rates in PERS 1 and TRS 
1 to reflect the delay between the measurement date of calculated Plan 1 rates and 
when the rates are collected. 
• OSA made an adjustment to their model to reflect past inflation experience when 
modeling future COLAs for current annuitants in all plans except PERS 1 and TRS 1. 

 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00% for all plans included in 
this publication. To determine that rate, an asset sufficiency test was completed to test 
whether each pension plan’s fiduciary net position was sufficient to make all projected future 
benefit payments for current plan members. 
 
Based on the assumptions described in OSA’s certification letter within the DRS ACFR, the 
pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future 
benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return of 
7.00% was used to determine the total liability. 
 
Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 
 
OSA selected a 7.00% long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments using a 
building-block method. In selecting this assumption, OSA reviewed the historical experience 
data, considered the historical conditions that produced past annual investment returns, and 
considered Capital Market Assumptions (CMAs) and simulated expected investment returns the 
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WSIB provided. The CMAs contain three pieces of information for each class of assets WSIB 
currently invests in: 

• Expected annual return. 
• Standard deviation of the annual return. 
• Correlations between the annual returns of each asset class with every other asset 
class. 
 

The WSIB uses the CMAs and their target asset allocation to simulate future investment returns 
at various future times. 
 
Estimated Rates of Return by Asset Class 
 
The table below summarizes the best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major 
asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2024. 
 
The inflation component used to create the table is 2.50% and represents the WSIB’s long-term 
estimate of broad economic inflation consistent with their 2023 CMAs. 
 

 
Asset Class 

 
Target 

Allocation 

% Long-Term 
Expected Real Rate 

of Return Arithmetic 

Fixed Income 19.0% 2.1% 

Tangible Assets  8.0% 4.5% 

Real Estate 18.0% 4.8% 

Global Equity 30.0% 5.6% 

Private Equity 25.0% 8.6% 

 100%  

 
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability/(Asset) 
 
The table below presents the net pension liability of employers, calculated using the discount 
rate of 7.00% as well as what employers’ net pension liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate 1 percentage point lower (6.00%) or 1 percentage point higher (8.00%) 
than the current rate. 
 

 1% Decrease 
(6%) 

Current Discount Rate 
(7%) 

1% Increase 
(8%) 

PERS 1 $                       346,574 $              235,609 $              138,289 

PERS 2/3 $                    1,021,372 $           (566,582) $        (1,870,736) 
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Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 
Detailed information about the State’s pension plans’ fiduciary net position is available in the 
separately issued DRS financial report. 
 
Pension Liabilities (Assets), Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and 
Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At June 30, 2024, the Port reported its proportionate share of the net pension liabilities/(assets) 
as follows: 
 

 Liability (or Asset) 

PERS 1 $                  235,609 

PERS 2/3 $                (566,582) 

 
On June 30, 2024 the Port’s proportionate share of the collective net pension liabilities/(assets) 
was as follows: 
 

 Proportionate 
Share 6/30/23 

Proportionate 
Share 6/30/24 

Change in 
Proportion 

PERS 1 0.013653% 0.013260% 0.000393% 

PERS 2/3 0.017612% 0.017187% 0.000425% 

 
Employer contribution transmittals received and processed by the DRS for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2024 are used as the basis for determining each employer’s proportionate share of the 
collective pension amounts reported by the DRS in the Schedules of Employer and Nonemployer 
Allocations for all Port plans. 
 
Pension Expense 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Port recognized pension expense/(credit) as 
follows: 
 

 Pension Expense 

PERS 1 $                (12,979) 

PERS 2/3 $                (20,099) 

TOTAL $                (33,078) 

 
Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
 
On December 31, 2024, the Port reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
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PERS 1 Deferred Outflows 
of Resources 

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual 
experience 

$                            - $                        - 

Net difference between projected and 
actual investment earnings on pension plan 
investments 

 - (18,853) 

Changes of assumptions - - 

Changes in proportion and differences 
between contributions and proportionate 
share of contributions 

- - 

Contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

37,182 - 

TOTAL $                   37,182 $            (18,853) 

 
 

PERS 2/3 Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual 
experience 

$               321,944 $                (1,312) 

Net difference between projected and actual 
investment earnings on pension plan 
investments 

- (162,366) 

Changes of assumptions 312,868 (35,899) 

Changes in proportion and differences 
between contributions and proportionate 
share of contributions 

23,564 (21,537) 

Contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

92,482 - 

TOTAL $               750,858 $            (221,114) 

 
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the Port’s contributions sub-
sequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability 
in the year ended December 31, 2025.  
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Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense/(credit) as follows: 
 

Year ended December 31 PERS 1 

2025 $                  (31,200) 

2026                16,029 

2027                        (1,697) 

2028                        (1,985) 

2029                             - 

Thereafter                             - 

Total $                  (18,853) 

 

Year ended December 31 PERS 2/3 

2025 $                (122,450) 

2026                      246,544 

2027                    107,585 

2028                      106,714 

2029                        52,038 

Thereafter                        46,831 

Total $                   437,262 

 
NOTE 8 – OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT (OPEB) PLANS 
 
In June 2015, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued GASB Statement No. 75, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. The Port 
adopted this standard in 2018.  
 
The following table represents the aggregate OPEB amounts for all plans subject to the 
requirements of GASB Statement 75 for the year ended December 31, 2024: 
 

Aggregate OPEB Amounts – All Plans 

OPEB liabilities $                           677,569 

OPEB assets $                                      - 

Deferred outflows of resources $                               8,075 

Deferred inflows of resources $                                       - 

OPEB expenses/(credit) $                             81,022 

 
At December 31, 2024, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 
 

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 4 

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits N/A 

Active employees 29 

Total 33 
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The Port is not able to determine the number of inactive employees entitled to but not yet 
receiving benefits as eligibility is determined by the Washington State Office of Retirement 
Services and the Washington State Public Employees Benefit Board. Inactive employees entitled 
to but not yet receiving benefits would include any former Port employee who retires under 
the public employees’ retirement system and who are vested in that system. Retirees may also 
elect alternate coverage through Medicare and a Medicare supplemental plan. 
 
A. OPEB Plan Description 
 
The Port of Edmonds provides medical, dental, life, and long-term disability insurance to its full-
time employees and Commissioners through the Washington State Public Employees Benefit 
Board (PEBB). Port employees who end public employment are eligible to continue PEBB 
insurance coverage as a retiree if they retire under the public employees’ retirement system 
and are vested in that system.  
 
Other post-employment benefits (OPEB) are benefits provided to retired employees beyond 
those provided by their pension plans. Such benefits include medical, prescription drug, life, 
dental, and vision insurance. PEBB offers retirees access to all of these benefits and PEBB 
employers, through this single-employer defined benefit plan, provide monetary assistance, or 
subsidies, these benefits. 
 
The OPEB relationship between PEBB employers and their employees and retirees are not 
formalized in a contract or plan document. Rather, the benefits are provided in accordance with 
a substantive plan. A substantive plan is one in which the plan terms are understood by the 
employers and plan members. This understanding is based on communications between the 
employers and plan members and the historical pattern of practice with regard to the sharing 
of benefit costs. 
 
The Office of the State Actuary, a department within the primary government of the State of 
Washington, issues a publicly available Other Post-Employment Benefits Actuarial Valuation 
Report. The Other Post-Employment Benefits Actuarial Valuation Report may be obtained by 
writing to: Office of the State Actuary, PO Box 40914, Olympia, Washington 98504-0914 or it 
may be downloaded from the Office of the State Actuary website at 
http://leg.wa.gov/osa/Pages/default.aspx. 
 
B. Subsidies 
 
The Washington State Health Care Authority (HCA) administers PEBB plan benefits. For medical 
insurance coverage, the HCA has two claims pools: one covering employees and non-Medicare 
eligible retirees, and the other covering retirees enrolled in Medicare Parts A and B. Each 
participating employer pays a portion of the premiums for active employees. For retirees, 
participating employers provide two different subsidies: an explicit subsidy and an implicit 
subsidy. 
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The explicit subsidy, permitted under RCW 41.05.085, is a straightforward, set dollar amount 
for a specific group of people. The explicit subsidy lowers the monthly premium paid by retired 
members enrolled in Medicare Parts A and B. PEBB determines the amount of the explicit 
subsidy annually.  
 
The implicit subsidy, set up under RCW 41.05.022, is more complex because it is not a direct 
payment from the employer on behalf of the member. Since claims experience for employees 
and non-Medicare eligible retirees are pooled when determining premiums, these retired 
members pay a premium based on a pool of members that, on average, are younger and 
healthier. There is an implicit subsidy from the employee group since the premiums paid by the 
retirees are lower than they would have been if the retirees were insured separately. The 
subsidies are valued using the difference between the age-based claims costs and the premium 
paid by the retirees.  
 
C. Funding Policy 
 
The Port funds the implicit and explicit subsidies on a pay-as-you-go basis, meaning that Port 
pays these costs as they occur or become due. Therefore, there are no assets accumulating in a 
qualifying trust. 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
 
The Port used the alternative measurement method permitted under GASB Statement No. 75 
and provided by the Office of the State Actuary. The Office of the State Actuary made the 
following assumptions: 
 

• 3/4 of members select a Uniform Medical Plan (UMP) and 1/4 select a Kaiser 
Permanente (KP) plan. 

• UMP pre- and post-Medicare costs and premiums are equal to the Uniform Medical Plan 
Classic. 

• The KP pre-Medicare costs and premiums are a 40/60 blend of KP WA Classic and KP WA 
Value. 

• The KP post-Medicare costs and premiums are equal to KP Medicare. 
 
No inactive members entitled to but not currently receiving a benefit were included in the 
calculation. 
 
The actuary estimated retirement service for each active employee based on the average entry 
age of 35 with a minimum service of 1 year. For example, an age 47 member is assumed to 
have 12 years of service. Service is a component of benefit eligibility. 
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Assumptions made for retirement, disability, termination, and mortality were based on the 
most recent PEBB OPEB valuation as of the publication date of the Office of State Actuary’s 
calculation tool. For simplicity, the Office of the State Actuary assumed: 
 

• Based on an average expected retirement age of 65, they applied active mortality rates 
for ages less than 65 and retiree mortality rates for ages 65+. 

• Each primary member was assumed to be a 50/50 male/female split. 

• 45% of current and future retirees cover a spouse. 

• Eligible spouses are the same age as the primary member.  

• Age-based primary members were selected for the tool based on the overall 
distribution of State employees and retirees that participate in PEBB. 

• Dental benefits were not included when calculating the Total OPEB Liability.  
 
Other assumptions include: 
 

    
 
The following sensitivity analysis presents the total OPEB liability of the Port calculated using 
the assumptions above. 
 

   
 
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about 
the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about 
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future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding 
the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject 
to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates 
are made about the future. The schedule of changes in total OPEB liability and related ratios is 
presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
D. Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 
 
The following table shows the components of the Port’s annual OPEB expense for the year, the 
benefit payments made, and changes in the Port’s total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2024. The 
current portion of OPEB liability of $16,150 is included as a current liability and the long-term 
portion of the OPEB liability of $661,419 is included as a noncurrent liability in the Statement of 
Net Position. 
 

Schedule of Changes in Total OPEB Liability 

Total OPEB Liability at 7/1/2023 $                                     609,416 

     Service Cost 30,851 

     Interest Cost 23,137 

     Changes in Experience Data and Assumptions 27,034 

     Changes in Benefit Terms  - 

     Benefit Payments      (12,896) 

     Other - 

Total OPEB Liability at 6/30/2024 $                                     677,569 

 
The Port of Edmonds used the alternative measurement method, which does not calculate 
deferred outflows and inflows for anything other than payments subsequent to the 
measurement date. Payments subsequent to the measurement date of 6/30/2024 were 
$8,075, which will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year ended 
December 31, 2025.  
 

All Plans 
Deferred Outflows 

of Resources 
Deferred Inflows 

of Resources 

Differences between expected and actual experience  $                        -   $                        -  

Changes of assumptions  $                        -   $                        -  

Payments subsequent to the measurement date  $                     8,075   $                        -  

Total  $                     8,075   $                        -  

  
E. Funded Status and Funding Progress 
 
In order to fund the OPEB plan, the Port would have to establish an irrevocable trust, which 
means that the Port would no longer have control of the money put into the trust. Even if the 
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Port left the PEBB program, the Port would not be able to get the money out of the trust. The 
plan is funding on a pay-as-you go basis and there are no assets accumulating in a qualifying 
trust. 
 
NOTE 9 – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Port of Edmonds is a member of the Enduris Washington (the Pool). Chapter 48.62 RCW 
provides the exclusive source of local government entity authority to individually or jointly self-
insure risks, jointly purchase insurance or reinsurance, and contract for risk management, 
claims, and administrative services. The Pool was formed on July 10, 1987, under the provisions 
of Chapter 48.62 RCW, Chapter 200-100 WAC, and Chapter 39.34 RCW when two counties and 
two cities in the State of Washington joined together by signing an interlocal governmental 
agreement to fund their self-insured losses and jointly purchase insurance and administrative 
services. During the Pool’s fiscal year ending August 31, 2024, there were 507 Enduris members 
representing a broad array of special purpose districts throughout the state. 
 
The Enduris program provides various forms of joint self-insurance and reinsurance coverage 
for its members: Liability coverage, which includes General Liability, Automobile Liability, Public 
Officials’ Errors and Omissions liability, Terrorism liability and Employment Practices liability; 
Property coverage, which includes Building and Contents, Mobile Equipment, Boiler and 
Machinery, and Business Interruption/Extra Expense; Automobile Physical Damage coverage; 
Cyber coverage; Crime blanket coverage; Named Position coverage; and an Identity Fraud 
reimbursement policy. Pollution and Cyber coverage are provided on a claims-made and 
reported coverage form. Crime coverage is provided on a discovery form. All other coverage is 
provided on an occurrence coverage form. 
 
Members are responsible for a coverage deductible or co-pay on each covered loss. Each policy 
year, members receive a Memorandum of Coverage (MOC) outlining the specific coverage, 
limits, and deductibles/co-pays that apply to them. In some instances, the Pool may allow 
members to elect to participate in the programs at limits, coverage, deductibles, and co-pays 
specific to their needs. Enduris is responsible for payment of all covered losses above the 
member deductible or copay up to the Pool selfinsured retention (SIR). Enduris acquires 
excess/reinsurance from unrelated insurance companies to cover losses above the Pool’s SIR up 
to the coverage maximum limit of liability. The tables below reflect the Pool’s SIR, reinsurance 
limits, and member deductibles/co-pays by coverage type. 
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Members make an annual contribution to fund the Pool. Since Enduris is a cooperative pro-
gram, there is joint liability among the participating members. No claim settlements were 
above the insurance coverage in the last three policy years. 
 
Upon joining the Pool, members are contractually obligated to remain for at least one year. 
They must give notice 60 days before renewal to terminate participation. The Interlocal Govern-
mental Agreement (formerly known as the Master Agreement) is automatically renewed each 
year unless provisions for withdrawal or termination are applied. Any Member terminated or 
withdrawing from the Pool shall be liable pro-rata for any assessments levied against Members 
for any year in which that Member belonged to the Pool as if they were still a Member. 
 
Its member participants fully fund Enduris. Members file claims with the Pool, which deter-
mines coverage and administers the claims. 
 
A seven-member Board of Directors governs the Pool. The Pool’s members elect the Board, and 
the positions are filled on a rotating basis. The Board meets quarterly, oversees Enduris' busi-
ness affairs, and provides policy direction to the Pool’s Executive Director. 
 
NOTE 10 – CHANGES IN LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
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During the year ended December 31, 2024, the following changes occurred in long-term 
liabilities: 
 

 
 

NOTE 11 - LEASES 
 
A. Lessee Activity 
 
The Port of Edmonds has entered into three 60-month equipment lease agreements with the 
total payment amount of $450 per month. The leases are subject to GASB Statement No. 87 
accounting. Variable payments are required based on the number of copies made. 
 
Leased assets activity for the year ended December 31, 2024, was as follows: 
 

 
 
2024 outflows of resources from lease activity were as follows: 
 

 
 
As of December 31, 2024, the principal and interest requirements to maturity are as follows: 
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B. Lessor Activity 
 
Leases subject to GASB Statement No. 87 have a fixed term that exceeds one year. Therefore, 
moorage, dry storage, and other month-to-month leases are not considered in the discussion 
below. Many building lease agreements begin as a one-year, three-year, or five-year agreement 
and then are extended numerous times. The length of tenancy listed in the graph below is the 
total length of time the tenant has been leasing from the Port at year end. 
 
As of December 31, 2024, there were 41 qualifying leases in which the Port was a lessor: 
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Variable Payments – Rent includes annual CPI adjustments and a percentage of sales on 
minimum annual guaranteed lease agreements.  Variable Payments – CAMs include common 
area maintenance charges (CAMs) for triple net (NNN) leases and utilities for some triple net 
leases.  In a triple net lease agreement, the tenant agrees to pay real estate taxes, building 
insurance, and maintenance, in addition to rent and utilities. Common area maintenance 
charges include utilities, repairs, and maintenance to common spaces like entryways, elevators, 
and restrooms in buildings and parking lots. 
 
2024 inflows of resources from lease activity were as follows: 
 

 
 

As of December 31, 2024, future lease receivable principal and interest payments are as         
follows: 
 

 
 
NOTE 12 – CONTINGENCIES AND LITIGATION 
 
The Port has recorded in its financial statements all material liabilities, including an estimate for 
situations which are not yet resolved but where, based on available information, management 
believes that it is probable that the Port will have to make payment. In the opinion of the 
management, the Port’s cash and cash equivalents and insurance policies are adequate to pay 
all known or pending claims. 
 
NOTE 13 – ENVIRONMENTAL REMEDIATION OBLIGATIONS 
 
The Port of Edmonds is subject to laws and regulations relating to the protection of the 
environment. The Port’s policy is to accrue environmental and cleanup related costs when it is 
both probable that a liability has been incurred and when the amount can be reasonably 
estimated.  
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GASB Statement No. 49 requires disclosure of “obligations to address current or potential 
detrimental effects of existing pollution by participating in pollution remediation activities.” 
GASB Statement No. 49 identifies five “obligating events” that require a government agency to 
disclose future outlays associated with remediation of contaminated sites. Once any of the five 
obligating events occurs, the government agency must document the components of expected 
pollution remediation outlays that are reasonably estimable. At this time, the Port has 
determined that future cleanup costs associated with one site constitute the Port’s pollution 
remediation obligations. 
 
A. Nature and Source of Pollution Remediation Obligations 
 
From 2003 to 2006, the Port of Edmonds was involved in cleaning up a property known as the 
Harbor Square property, which was purchased by the Port from the Union Oil Company in 1978. 
From 1924 to 1968, portions of the property were used as an oil and gasoline depot and 
distribution facility, a railcar cleaning facility, an asphalt batch plant, and heavy-equipment 
storage. Several remedial investigations were conducted at the property from 1989 to 2003. In 
June 2003, a supplemental site investigation was conducted at the direction of the Department 
of Ecology to further define the extent of contamination at the property identified during 
previous investigations, to help identify any additional areas of contamination, and to further 
evaluate any impacts to groundwater. The Port developed a remediation plan based on that 
investigation and commenced cleanup activities.  
 
The Port’s environmental engineering firm, Landau Associates, prepared a report for the Port of 
Edmonds in November 2003 that provided estimates of the cost of remediation activities at the 
Port of Edmonds’ Harbor Square complex due to past industrial activities at the site. The esti-
mated costs presented in the report are for all remediation activities anticipated at the site, 
which are described as Phase I through Phase III remediation in the report. Phase I and Phase II 
remediation efforts were essentially completed in 2005 and 2006. Phase III remediation re-
mains to be completed.  
 
B. Amount of Estimated Liability 
 
The estimated cost of Phase III remediation was a range of $150,000 to $900,000, reflecting the 
uncertainty of the extent of contamination under existing structures that could not be readily 
accessed for assessment. Landau Associates estimates the liability to the Port of Edmonds asso-
ciated with the future cleanup of known areas of contamination on Port property to be 
$175,000 to $1,050,000 (in 2008 dollars). The middle point of this estimated range is $612,500. 
 
As per GASB Statement No. 49, “Estimates of a pollution remediation liability should be 
adjusted when benchmarks are met or when new information indicates changes in estimated 
outlays due to, for example, changes in the remediation plan or operating conditions. These 
changes may include the type of equipment, facilities, and services that will be used, price 
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increases or reductions for specific outlay elements such as ongoing monitoring requirements, 
changes in technology, and changes in legal or regulatory requirements.”  
 
The Port did not meet any benchmarks or receive new information that indicates changes in 
estimated outlays in 2024. Therefore, the Port did not make any adjustments to Environmental 
Remediation Liability in 2024. 
 
C. Methods and Assumptions Used for the Estimate 
 
The majority of the contamination to be addressed in Phase III remediation is located under 
existing buildings; some areas of residual contamination (expected to be relatively small) are 
located outside building footprints, but underneath paved surfaces. Phase III activities were not 
undertaken due to the inaccessibility of the contaminated areas, although the Port has 
committed to remediation at such time that the structures at the Harbor Square complex are 
removed for future development.  
 
The Port has chosen to use only the best case and worse case for the ranges of potential 
outcomes. As the Port does not have a reasonable basis for specifying the probability and 
amount of a most likely potential cash flow, it is using only two data points, a range of $175,000 
to $1,050,000. 
 
D. Potential for Changes 
 
Phase III remediation may only be completed when the Harbor Square property is redeveloped, 
this estimate may be revised due to price increases or reductions, technology, and applicable 
laws or regulations. 
 
E. Estimated Recoveries Reducing the Liability 
 
The Port does not expect to receive any recoveries to reduce this liability. 
 
NOTE 14 – UNDERGROUND STORAGE TANK RETIREMENT OBLIGATION 
 
The Port owns and operates a Marina fueling facility. The fuel dispensers are supplied by 3 
12,000 gallon, double-walled underground storage tanks that were installed in 1995. 
Washington Administrative Code (WAC) 173-360A requires owners and operators to monitor 
the tanks for leakage, provide insurance coverage for all leakage, submit to periodic testing of 
the tanks and monitoring equipment, provide training for certain staff, and to properly close 
the underground storage tanks when they are no longer needed.  
 
The Port has chosen to measure the asset retirement obligation based on the cost estimate for 
decommissioning and removing one 20,000 gallon gasoline underground storage tank prepared 
by DH Environmental, Inc. in October 2019, for the Port of Seattle. The estimate totaled 
$82,382. Multiplying by the 3 tanks the Port owns, results in a liability of roughly $250,000. This 
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amount is reviewed annually to account for the effects of inflation or deflation, and to consider 
any factors significantly affecting the estimate; such as changes in technology, changes in legal 
or regulatory requirements, and changes to the type of equipment or services that may be used 
to decommission the underground storage tanks. As of December 31, 2024, the asset 
retirement obligation for the Port’s three underground storage tanks was $317,102, an increase 
of 63.7% over 2023 to reflect the effects of inflation on the Port’s estimate. 
 
GASB 83 is retroactive to the date of the internal obligating event in September 1995 and is 
effective over the life of the underground storage tanks. The tanks originally had a 20 year 
estimated life, which was reevaluated in 2019 and increased to 40 years. 
 
Upon retirement of the underground storage tanks, the Port will fund the decommissioning out 
of current reserves. There are no assets restricted for the payment of this liability. 
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